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This map shows the modern-day plantations and major roads of Hilton Head Island. (Frey Media/TriComm Productions/the Resort Channel 60.)
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Fred C. Hack compiled deed records to create this map of what antebellum Hilton Head properties were named. Some names like Shipyard, Leamington, Honey Horn, Calibogue, and others are used today. (Hilton Head Historical Society.)
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ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

(Hilton Head Island. is a project of the Coastal Discovery Museum, the Environmental and Historical Museum on Hilton Head Island. The purpose of this book is to present a chronological outline of area history as reflected in the photographs and illustrations from the collections of the museum and many community residents, businesses, and organizations. There are many other photographs and resources yet to be published or displayed. Please visit the Coastal Discovery Museum to learn more through our exhibits, live and televised programs, and tours of the area’s historical sites.

We wish to thank the following people, businesses, and organizations for their contributions and support of Hilton Head Island.

The following individuals and families lent photographs which were included in the book: Ned McNair, Abe Grant, Evelyn Mitchell, Barbara Hudson, Joe Pinckney, Ben Stewart, Elizabeth Grant, Elaine Kennedy, Lamar Priester Jr., Betty Ann Thompson Comer, Ed Wiggins Sr., Delores Lawyer, Greg Smith, Ernest Ferguson, Capin family, Hack family, Phillip Propst family, Tommy Heyward, Frances Baker, Dana Palmer, June Eggert, Sue and Bob Wiener, Elrid Moody, Marian Broome, Mary Ann Peeples, Betty Lightfoot, Gretchen Freund, and Sandy Painter, and Mose Hudson family.

Many businesses and organizations searched their archives as well. They are Western Reserve Historical Society, Adventure Inn, the Island Packet, the Library of Congress, Parris Island Museum, First Presbyterian Church, Frey Media, Ed Pinckney and Associates, Hilton Head Island Chamber of Commerce, the Westin Resort, Crowne Plaza, Marriott Grande Ocean, Disney’s Hilton Head Island Resort, Palmetto Electric Cooperative, Hilton Head Island Medical Center and Clinics, Self Family Arts Center, Island Rentals and Real Estate, Technical College of the Low Country, and the Hilton Head Historical Society. Dozens of other organizations, individuals, and businesses submitted photographs which we did not have room for in this volume.

Without the help of many others, the technical aspect of this book, reproducing photos, scanning the images, and enhancing the images could never have been completed. Thanks to Ken Mak for duplicating images and scanning slides; Chris Hefter, Angie Coyle, and Robert Highsmith for computer help at Optimum Resource; Greg DeWitt for scanning and helping with layout; Pro Photo and Coligny One Hour Photo for developing and scanning; Charles Grace at Meissner Illustrated for emergency scanning; and Hilton Head Island Middle School for loaning a computer for us to use with a scanner.

Several other people played important parts in putting the book together. Sue Winter and Sue Tritschler helped get the project started, Beth Patton and Sara Borton at the Island Packet opened the paper’s archives to us, and the Fred and Billie Hack and Mose Hudson families were especially helpful in bringing both families’ experiences to life for us. Editorial assistance was provided by Kim Washok, Inas Otten, and Delores Lawyer. Chris Hefter helped with photo selection and layout. Elaine Rothschild tirelessly followed up on research, organized a great deal of information, and provided support in the final days. Richard Hefter and Evelyn Mallick helped with copy editing and content suggestions. Carol Kruzelock, Robert McFee, Isaac Wilborn, the Georgia Historical Society, and Fran Marscher helped with clarifying information.

For over a year, the museum has collected information for the timeline which follows. Many islanders contributed information, but several individuals need to be recognized for their significant contributions to this document. They are Rev. Robert Peeples, Johnnie Mitchell, George Stidworthy, Bill Slaughter, Ben Racusin, Chris Judge, Carolyn Grant, Margaret Greer, and Sally Krebs of the Town of Hilton Head.

As a non-profit museum, there are several organizations which should be recognized for their financial support for this project. The Hilton Head Island Foundation funded Natalie’s position during the project. The MCI Heritage Foundation donated funds for this book to be turned into an exhibit in the museum. Hargray Communications, the Bargain Box, and Palmetto Electric Cooperative Trust are longtime donors to the museum and provide much needed support throughout the year. Special thanks also go to the Town of Hilton Head Island for its support of the museum’s programs.

The Coastal Discovery Museum is located at 100 William Hilton Parkway on the north end of Hilton Head at Mile Marker #1. The mailing address is P.O. Box 23497, Hilton Head Island, SC 29925. The museum is open year round, seven days a week from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. The telephone number is (843) 689-6767; the web page address is http://www.hhisland.com/hiltonhead/museum.html.




INTRODUCTION

Hilton Head Island’s history dates back thousands of years to its geographic formation and its Native American occupation. This book, however, documents the island’s more recent past through the viewfinder of the camera.

The following timeline is a chronology compiled by the Coastal Discovery Museum. It traces the island’s history from its beginning to the present day. It addresses the early history which cannot be shown in photographs and provides additional information about the more recent past that could not be shared in the chapters that follow. No timeline could ever be absolutely complete, but it marks the beginning of documenting and recording the island’s history in print. Our thanks go to the dozens of editors who helped create the timeline.


 Chris Tenne Pendleton, Executive Director, Coastal Discovery Museum 
Natalie Harvey, History Coordinator, Coastal Discovery Museum




TIMELINE OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND

Geologic Formation and Pre-History 450 Million Years ago—4,000 years ago






	450 million years ago
	The sea level was 400 feet higher than today. The coast was near present-day Columbia, South Carolina.


	50,000 years ago
	This area’s sea level was 15 feet higher than it is today. Only a few ridges were above the sea level.


	40,000 years ago
	Glacial activity caused the sea level to fall all over the world. Small islands were visible above the sea level in this area.


	15,000 years ago today.
	The sea level was at its lowest point, 400 feet below where it is


	4,000 years ago
	The sea level had risen to near its present level. This island closely resembled its current appearance.



Native American Occupation 8000 B.C.–1500 A.D.






	8000 B.C. (10,000 years ago)
	Paleo-Indians occupied this area 5,000 years before the Egyptian pyramids were built. They hunted prehistoric mammals, like the mastodon.


	8000 B.C.–1000 B.C. Archaic Period
	Native Americans visited this area seasonally. Fiber-tempered pottery was introduced in the latter part of the period and shell rings like the one in Sea Pines were created.


	1000 B.C.–900 A.D. Woodland Period
	Native American groups were semi-nomadic, migrating seasonally along river valleys. They hunted animals, such as deer, that would be recognizable today. Crop cultivation began.


	900 A.D.–1550 A.D. Mississippian Period
	Permanent stratified Native American


	
	settlements began appearing, with crop cultivation and hunting as the means for survival. The groups were Muskegeon speakers, related to the Creeks.


	1335 A.D.
	Green’s Shell Enclosure, a 4-foot-tall shell ridge that encloses 2 acres, was built along the banks of Skull Creek.



European Explorers 1500–1700






	1521
	A Spanish expedition, led by Francisco Cordillo, explored this area, marking the beginning of the colonization era and initiating European contact with local tribes.


	1526
	The Spanish established a short-lived settlement called San Miguel de Gualdape on South Carolina’s coast. Its 500 colonists were led by Gov. Lucas Vasquez deAllyon.


	1562
	The French Huguenots, led by Jean Ribaut, entered Port Royal Sound and established Charlesfort on Parris Island. Ribaut left the area and tried to return to France. He was captured off the English coast. The settlers that he had left behind built a ship and also attempted a return to France. They were captured as well. Theirs was the first Protestant settlement in the United States. The Spanish burned it in 1564 after it had already been abandoned.


	1566
	Spanish explorers settled Santa Elena, a permanent settlement, on Parris Island. They abandoned it in 1587 because British corsairs and Sir Francis Drake had been attacking their holdings in St. Augustine. Then, the Spanish concentrated their colonization efforts in St. Augustine.


	1663
	Capt. William Hilton sailed from Barbados, on the Adventure, to explore lands granted by King Charles II to the eight Lords Proprietors. Hilton Head Island takes its name from a headland near the entrance to Port Royal Sound.


	1670
	Charles Towne was established by the English on the bank of the Ashley River. The settlement moved to its current location on the peninsula between the Ashley and Cooper Rivers by the 1680s.


	1684
	The Yemassee Indians began moving into the Port Royal area. They were invited by the Scots who had established Stuart Town. In 1686, the Spanish destroyed Stuart Town.


	1698
	John Bayley, of Ireland, was given most of Hilton Head Island as a barony. Twenty-four years later, his son appointed Alexander Trench as his agent in charge of selling the land. For a short time, Hilton Head was called Trench’s Island on some 18th- century maps.



Plantation Era 1700–1860






	1707
	A military post was established on the Beaufort River to stop Spanish attacks on Charleston (originally called Charles Towne).


	1711
	Beaufort, South Carolina, was founded.


	1715
	Yemassee Indians, in response to abuse by white traders and fearing possible enslavement, attacked several settlements in the Carolinas. They killed many traders and their families. These raids continued for 15 years. The Yemassee were pushed to Florida.


	1715
	Col. Alexander Mackay settled on what became known as Pinckney Island. The family sold it to Charles Pinckney in 1734. The entire island became a Wildlife Refuge in 1975.


	1717
	As a reward for his leadership in the Yemassee War, Col. John (“Tuscarora Jack”) Barnwell was granted 1,000 acres of land (Myrtle Bank Plantation) on the northwest corner of the island by the Lords Proprietors. He became the island’s first white settler. Myrtle Bank is now part of Hilton Head Plantation.


	1728
	In January, an entire crew of South Carolina scouts was killed by Yemassee Indians on the southern tip of Daufuskie Island, giving the area the name Bloody Point. In March, Col. John Palmer retaliated by attacking St. Augustine, ending most of the Yemassee attacks.


	1733
	Savannah was founded by James Oglethorpe. It was intended to provide a barrier between Spanish Florida and British Carolina.


	1740s
	Eliza Lucas introduced a successful strain of indigo that could be grown on the sea islands. She sold the seeds to her father’s plantation-owning friends. By the 1750s, most sea island plantations grew indigo. Indigo’s cultivation and processing demanded a large amount of slave labor. The end product, bricks of dye, was sold to the English for dyeing fabrics.


	1748
	The Royal Indigo Bounty was passed by England, making indigo profitable for South Carolinian planters


	1760s
	Beaufort County’s shipbuilding industry was one of the largest in the 13 colonies. The deep-water creeks around Hilton Head and the prevalence of hardwoods (like live oak) made the island a popular place for shipbuilding. Robert Watts constructed the largest ship built in colonial South Carolina on Hilton Head Island; it weighed 420 tons. The USS Constitution, “Old Ironsides,” was rebuilt in 1997 using live oaks felled during construction of Hilton Head Island’s Cross Island Parkway.


	1767
	St. Luke’s Parish, which included Hilton Head Island, became a new colonial parish (a religious and political boundary) due to population growth in the area.


	1775
	The American Revolution began and England ceased paying a bounty on South Carolina indigo.


	1778
	The English captured Savannah, Georgia.


	1779
	Privateers sailing with the British navy burned many houses on Skull Creek and around the island on their way to Beaufort and Charleston. Hilton Head residents tended to be Patriots, while Daufuskie residents were Tories.


	1781
	Daufuskie Islanders burned several Hilton Head homes, including the Talbird home. A few days later, Philip Martinangele, of Daufuskie Island, led a raiding party to Hilton Head Island, where they killed Charles Davant. The attack was avenged by Capt. John Leacraft and the “Bloody Legion,” which went to Daufuskie and killed Martinangele.


	1783
	The English abandoned Charleston in August.


	1788
	The Zion Chapel of Ease, a small wooden Episcopal church (40 feet by 20 feet) for plantation owners, was constructed. All that remains is the cemetery, which is home to the Baynard Mausoleum near Mathews Drive.


	1790
	William Elliott II, of Myrtle Bank Plantation, grew the first successful crop of long-staple, or Sea Island, cotton in South Carolina on Hilton Head Island. Its value was several times that of short-staple inland cotton.


	1804
	A hurricane passed through this area, killing 500 in South Carolina.


	1813
	During the War of 1812, British forces landed on Hilton Head Island, burning many of the houses along Skull Creek.


	1820s
	Some planters began building summer homes where Bluffton is located today. The town was not incorporated until 1852.


	1836
	Rev. Joseph J. Lawton tried to grow rice on Calibogue Plantation in what is now Sea Pines Plantation. The endeavor failed due to lack of freshwater to flood the fields.


	1854
	The Church of the Cross was constructed in Bluffton.


	1860
	There were more than 20 working plantations on the island before the Civil War. Because of the island’s isolation and the prevalence of diseases, such as yellow fever


	
	and malaria, most plantation owners did not live on Hilton Head. Instead, they had homes in Charleston, Beaufort, or Savannah. The island was populated with slaves and overseers.



The Civil War and the Union Occupation 1860–1865






	1860
	In December, South Carolina was the first state to secede from the Union.


	1861
	On April 12th, the Civil War’s first shots were fired on Fort Sumter in Charleston harbor.


	1861
	Beginning in July, Fort Walker was built on Hilton Head Island at the entrance to Port Royal Sound in order to protect the port from Union attacks.


	1861
	On November 7th, Union forces attacked Fort Walker (later renamed Fort Welles in honor of Gideon Welles, secretary of the Navy) and Fort Beauregard (across the Port Royal Sound on Bay Point) in the Battle of Port Royal. The naval flotilla consisted of 17 warships, 33 transports, and 25 colliers. Nearly 13,000 Union troops flooded onto the island in the days after the battle. The troops built a pier for warships, and constructed all of the installation’s warehouses, sawmills, residences, and its hospital shortly after arriving.


	1862
	Hilton Head Island was also referred to as Port Royal, in reference to the military installation by that name. Port Royal was the home to the Department of the South.


	1862
	Hilton Head’s population swelled to over 40,000, including Union troops, civilian store-keepers, missionaries, prisoners of war, and slaves seeking refuge from their owners.


	1862
	Gen. Ormsby Mitchel set up the town of Mitchelville to house the island’s contraband community; this was the first freedman’s village. Until 1863, slaves were called “contrabands of war” and were considered abandoned property of the plantation owners. Mitchelville residents elected their own officials, passed their own laws, and established the first compulsory education law in the state. The Mitchelville community was built along modern-day Beach City Road.


	1862
	Northern missionaries participated in the “Port Royal Experiment,” which created contraband schools. Penn School, on St. Helena Island, was one of the original schools.


	1862
	Fort Mitchel was built as a battery to protect Skull Creek from Confederate attacks. Fort Sherman, which circled the military installation, was completed.


	1863
	On January 1st, President Lincoln signed the Emancipation Proclamation.


	1863
	Many Bluffton homes were bombarded by Union ships patrolling the May River.


	1863
	The United States government bought many abandoned plantations at tax sales. Not all of the confiscated property was sold or divided among the freedmen.


	1864
	In response to decreasing numbers of troops on the island, Fort Howell was constructed by the 32nd U.S. Colored Infantry. It was built on the southwestern side of Mitchelville and is still located along Beach City Road.


	1864
	Clara Barton, founder of the Red Cross, spent nine months on Hilton Head Island.


	1865
	On February 1st, President Lincoln signed the 13th Amendment to end slavery.


	1865
	On April 9th, Gen. Robert E. Lee surrendered to Gen. Ulysses S. Grant at Appomattox. Within two months, the Civil War was over.


	1865
	The First African Baptist Church was founded in August. Rev. Abraham Murchison of Savannah was the first pastor. Several island churches formed out of this church, including St. James, Goodwill, Central Oakgrove, and Mt. Calvary.


	1865
	In December, the 13th Amendment was ratified and all slaves were legally freed.



Reconstruction and Isolation 1870s–1940s






	1868
	Large-scale military occupation of the island had ended. The island’s population dropped to only a few thousand. Island residents continued a life of isolation from the mainland. They depended upon subsistence farming, fishing, and oystering to make a living.


	1868
	Rachel Crane Mather started a school in Beaufort for daughters of freed slaves which became a normal school for black girls in 1882. In 1932, it was approved by the SC Department of Education as an industrial school and opened to all races. It then received accreditation by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools in 1955. In 1969, it was transferred to the jurisdiction of Beaufort County. It finally became the Technical College of the Low Country (TLC) in 1972 with a branch on Hilton Head Island, which opened in August 1983.


	1870s
	Some of Hilton Head Island’s plantations were reclaimed by their antebellum owners after paying back taxes charged to their property. Other properties were held by the United States government, sold to speculators, or sold to freedmen who remained on the island after the Civil War.


	1872
	The island was once again referred to as Hilton Head Island instead of Port Royal.


	1881
	A hurricane killed 700 in South Carolina and Georgia.


	1890
	William P. Clyde, of New York, bought 9,000 acres of land on Hilton Head Island from former plantation owners and land speculators. Like many other Northern buyers, Clyde used the land for a private hunting preserve.


	1891
	Savannah State College was founded. Many of Hilton Head Island’s residents attended this college. An island native, Cyrus Wiley, graduated from Savannah State in 1899 and returned to the college in 1921 as its second president. He was the first graduate of the college to hold that position. He served as president until 1926.


	1893
	An enormous hurricane hit Beaufort County, killing at least 2,000 people in the county and flooding parts of the island with its 12-foot surge. Many of Hilton Head Island’s structures were destroyed in this storm.


	1900s
	Private hunting groups, such as the North Carolina Hunting Club, also purchased large sections of Hilton Head Island during this period.


	1901
	A 15-inch steam cannon was installed and tested on the beach at Coggins Point (modern-day Port Royal Plantation). It was 1 of 13 designed to protect the United States coast.


	1917
	Troops were stationed at the former Union Fort Walker during World War I as lookouts for possible submarine attacks.


	1920s
	Gullah native islanders sailed bateaux from Hilton Head to the mainland, carrying people, crops, and livestock to the market on River Street in Savannah. Charlie Simmons Sr. operated the first mechanized ferry in 1930 from Simmons Fish Camp, located near Marshland Road. The Lola, a 30-foot boat with a 15-horsepower engine, ran three times a week. The last ferry, the Alligator, was larger, quicker, and ran more frequently.


	1920s
	Many families augmented their incomes by oystering. The Hudsons and Toomers operated oyster factories on Hilton Head from the 1890s until the 1950s. By this time, the boll weevil had destroyed almost all of the Sea Island Cotton in the region.


	1930
	Landon K. Thorne and Alfred L. Loomis bought W.P. Clyde’s and Roy Rainey’s properties totaling nearly 20,000 acres for approximately $6 an acre. They had already purchased the former Union Fort Walker from the United States government in 1927. Alfred Mose Hudson served as the woodsrider, or manager, of the property.


	1940
	The island’s population was approximately 1,100, most of whom were descendants


	
	from freedmen who had made their homes on Hilton Head. A great storm hit the island, leaving many people stranded and damaging many of the island’s structures. Charlie Simmons’s 55-foot-long Edgar Hurst ferry was pushed across Broad Creek and onto dry land during this hurricane.


	1941
	Marines were stationed at Camp McDougal near the Leamington Lighthouse in present-day Palmetto Dunes. The lighthouse had been built in the 1870s and was known as the Hilton Head Lighthouse until the Palmetto Dunes development, Leamington, began. Marines paved the first road on the island, which ran from the ferry landing at Jenkins Island (now Outdoor Resorts) to the lighthouse.


	1948
	On June 30th, President Harry Truman signed a resolution creating “National Freedom Day” to be celebrated on February 1st. The day was intended to commemorate the signing of the 13th Amendment, which ended slavery. In 1997, a group of Hilton Head Islanders revived National Freedom Day with a Gullah celebration at Simmons Fish Camp.



Mainland Connection and Modern Era 1949–1990s






	1949
	A group of lumber associates from Hinesville, Georgia, bought a total of 20,000 acres of pine forest on Hilton Head’s southern end for an average of nearly $60 an acre. They formed The Hilton Head Company to handle the timber operation. The associates were Gen. Joseph B. Fraser, Fred C. Hack, Olin T. McIntosh, and C.C. Stebbins.


	1950
	Logging took place on 19,000 acres of the island. There were three lumbermills built to harvest the timber. The island population was only 300 residents.


	1950
	The first electricity was brought to the island by Palmetto Electric Cooperative. The poles were brought by barge to the island.


	1953
	A state-operated car ferry began running from Buckingham Landing (near Bluffton, on the mainland) to Jenkins Island (at Outdoor Resorts). The first ferry, the Gay Times, held only four cars. The second one, Pocahontas, held nine. The cost to ride was 10¢ as a pedestrian and $1.25 for a car.


	1954
	Hilton Head Elementary School opened for the island’s black students near the present-day intersection of Wildhorse Road and Highway 278. Prior to this period, students studied in small one- or two-room neighborhood schools that were scattered around the island. Isaac Wilborn was the principal of the elementary school from 1954 until it closed in 1974. The site is now owned by the Town of Hilton Head Island. The school was replaced by a new integrated school constructed on a new site in 1975.


	1955
	Beaufort county state representative Wilton Graves opened the Sea Crest Motel on Forest Beach. At first, it consisted of two rooms. It expanded to eight by 1960. The first vacation cottages were developed on Folly Field Road, which had been acquired from The Hilton Head Company.


	1955
	Katie McElveen opened the Roadside Restaurant along Highway 278. It was torn down in 1986 to build Parkway Medical Center.


	1956
	James F. Byrnes Bridge, a two-lane swing-bridge, was constructed at a cost of $1.5 million. This opened the island to automobile traffic from the mainland, at a $2.50 round-trip toll. Forty-eight thousand cars traveled across the bridge in 1956. The toll was discontinued in December 1959.


	1956
	Gen. J.B. Fraser withdrew from The Hilton Head Company. His son, Charles E. Fraser, bought his interest and began developing it into Sea Pines Plantation.


	1956
	Norris and Lois Richardson opened the first supermarket on the island. It was located near Coligny Circle in the North Forest Beach area. Before then, island residents


	
	depended upon small, neighborhood general stores to provide for their needs, or they traveled to Savannah.


	1956
	The Hilton Head Island Chamber of Commerce was established.


	1958
	First deed to a lot in Sea Pines Plantation was signed. Beachfront lots initially sold for $5,350. By 1962, they were selling for $9,600.


	1958
	The first year of telephone service was offered by Hargray Telephone Company. Their first Hilton Head office did not open until 1960.


	1958
	Palmetto Bay Marina opened.


	1959
	William Hilton Inn opened with 56 rooms. It was torn down to build the Marriott Grand Ocean resort on South Forest Beach Drive in the 1990s.


	1959
	Hurricane Gracie hit the island causing slight damage.


	1959
	Organized mosquito spraying began.


	1960
	The island’s first golf course, the Ocean Course, designed by George Cobb, was built in Sea Pines Plantation.


	1961
	The McIntosh family subdivided 360 acres of The Hilton Head Company to start Spanish Wells.


	1962
	Port Royal Plantation was developed by Hilton Head Company, led by Fred Hack.


	1964
	Hilton Head’s first condominiums were completed in Sea Pines Plantation.


	1964
	The Bank of Beaufort began offering banking services on the island for a few hours each week (Monday, Wednesday, and Friday from 10 a.m.–12 p.m. and Tuesday, Thursday from 9 a.m.—9:15 a.m.).


	1965
	The Sea Pines Medical Center was built. It was staffed by a retired doctor who lived in Sea Pines but served the entire island community.


	1965
	Hilton Head Island had its first rural mail route established with Phil Propst as the carrier. There were 415 deliveries on the island.


	1965
	The Women’s Association of Hilton Head Island was established. Mrs. Fred C. Hack was the first president.


	1965
	Sea Pines Academy began. In 1967, the younger students began to be taught in the Montessori manner. In 1986, Sea Pines and May River Academies combined to form Hilton Head Preparatory School.


	1967
	Sea Pines Plantation installed the island’s first gates. Port Royal, Shipyard, and future developments followed the trend.


	1967
	The Palmetto Dunes area was acquired from the Hilton Head Agricultural Company by the newly formed Palmetto Dunes Corporation, headed by William T. Gregory, for $1,000 an acre.


	1967
	The Hilton Head Airport opened. The first plane to land belonged to golfer Arnold Palmer.


	1968
	Sea Pines Montessori School and Sea Pines Academy opened.


	1968
	Hudson’s restaurant was opened by J.B. Hudson Jr.


	1969
	Harbour Town village was completed. The full-time population of the island was 2,500.


	1969
	The first Heritage Golf Classic played at Sea Pines’s Harbour Town Links. The German firm Badische Anilin and Soda Fabrik (BASF) announced plans for a $100- million chemical plant 3 miles from Hilton Head Island on Victoria Bluff; now the area is a 1,200-acre wildlife refuge and home to the Waddell Mariculture Center.


	1970
	A group of islanders effectively stopped the development of the BASF chemical plant on the mainland. The island’s shrimping co-op, made up of native islanders, played a central role in halting the chemical plant’s development. The co-op had over 125 members who operated 30 boats from its dock on Skull Creek (now Skull Creek Seafood). David Jones, head of the cooperative, took his shrimp boat up to Washington to deliver petitions against BASF’s plant to Secretary of the Interior Walter Hickel.


	1970
	Island Packet newspaper was first published.


	1970
	Deep Well Project began.


	1970
	The Hilton Head Company started Shipyard Plantation.


	1971
	Sea Pines acquired land on the north end of the island, which was developed into Hilton Head Plantation.


	1972
	The first movie theater opened on Hilton Head Island in Coligny Plaza. Walt Disney’s Song of the South was the first movie shown.


	1972
	Chicago Bridge and Iron (CBI) announced plans to build off-shore drilling platforms on Victoria Bluff.


	1973
	Moss Creek, the first off-island planned development, began. Rose Hill, Callawassie, Belfair, Colleton River, and others followed in the next 20 years.


	1974
	The swing-bridge was struck by a barge which forced island residents to travel off the island on a pontoon bridge constructed by the Army Corps of Engineers. The bridge was closed for six weeks.


	1975
	The island’s full-time population by this time was 6,500. Over 250,000 visitors came to Hilton Head.


	1975
	Hilton Head Hospital was completed.


	1975
	Time-share condominiums started being sold in Sea Pines.


	1975
	Pinckney Island’s owners, Edward Starr and James Barker, donated their 5,000-acre island to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for conservation.


	1975
	Hilton Head National Bank opened. It was the first locally owned and operated financial institution on the island.


	1979
	Hurricane David missed the island, but high winds left beaches eroded and destroyed several Singleton Beach homes.


	1982
	A four-lane bridge was built to replace the two-lane swing-bridge to the island. The island’s full-time population was 12,500. More than 500,000 visitors came to Hilton Head in 1982.


	1982
	Wexford Plantation and Long Cove Club were developed.


	1983
	The Town of Hilton Head Island incorporated as a municipality. The town agreed to provide planning services to Hilton Head Island. The first mayor, Ben Racusin, and the town council were elected to two-year terms.


	1985
	Hilton Head’s Comprehensive Plan was adopted by the town council. The population was over 17,000 full-time residents.


	1985
	Lot sales at Indigo Run began.


	1987
	The town council passed the Land Management Ordinance of the Town of Hilton Head Island.


	1989
	Using some state funding, town officials implemented a beach nourishment plan to restore heavily eroded beaches by pumping sand from offshore (repeated in 1997).


	1990
	The Cross-Island Parkway project was approved. The Parkway’s bridge spans Broad Creek and links the south end of the island to the north end.


	1991
	The Town of Hilton Head Island updated its Comprehensive Plan.


	1992
	The Beach Preservation Fee (part of Hilton Head Island’s 2% Accommodations Tax) was passed by the town council to provide funding for future beach renourishment.


	1993
	Del Webb Corporation began its 5,100-acre development of Sun City Hilton Head, a retirement community 9 miles west of the island.


	1994
	Coastal Discovery Museum, formerly the Museum of Hilton Head, and the Hilton Head Chamber of Commerce Welcome Center moved into a shared building along Jarvis Creek at the north end of the island.


	1995
	The permanent year-round population exceeded 28,000 people. The island had over 1.5 million visitors.


	1995
	Construction on the Cross-Island Parkway began.


	1996
	The Master Land Use Plan for Ward One was started by the Town.


	1996
	Self Family Arts Center opened.


	1997
	Crossings Park, near the Palmetto Bay Road entrance to the Cross Island Parkway, opened.


	1997
	The Town of Hilton Head Island began its second update of the Comprehensive Plan.


	1997
	First Gullah Celebration sponsored by the Native Island Business and Community Association was held.


	1998
	Cross Island Parkway opened in January. The total cost was $81 million for construction, land acquisition, and planning.
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